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JUSTICE KITTREDGE: Four months shy of his eighteenth birthday, 
petitioner Terrell Smith stabbed his friend Brandon Bennett (the victim) to death 
and, when the victim's father Darryl Bennett walked in on the stabbing, laughed at 
Bennett's anguish and attempted to stab Bennett to death as well.  Following a jury 
trial, Smith was convicted and sentenced to thirty-five years' imprisonment for 
murder and thirty years' imprisonment for attempted murder, the sentences to be 
run concurrently.1 

Section 16-3-20(A) of the South Carolina Code (2015) imposes a mandatory 
minimum sentence of thirty years' imprisonment on those convicted of murder, 
whether the offender is a juvenile or an adult.  Despite receiving a sentence longer 
than the mandatory minimum, Smith argues the statute is unconstitutional because 
it places juvenile and adult homicide offenders on equal footing for sentencing 
purposes, and the Eighth Amendment, as interpreted by the United States Supreme 
Court (the Supreme Court) in Miller v. Alabama,2 forbids such a result. In 
accordance with the overwhelming majority of states that have addressed similar 
arguments, we hold the mandatory minimum sentence imposed by section 
16-3-20(A) is constitutional as applied to juveniles and affirm Smith's convictions 
and sentences. 

I. 

On June 11, 2014, at approximately 7:00 a.m., Bennett awoke and walked past the 
victim's bedroom on the way to the kitchen.  The house was quiet, as Bennett and 
the victim lived there alone,3 and Bennett observed the victim asleep in his bed.   

1 Smith also received a five-year sentence for the possession of a weapon during 
the commission of a violent crime, which was also to run concurrently with the 
other two sentences. 

2 567 U.S. 460 (2012) (holding mandatory life without parole sentences imposed 
on juvenile offenders convicted of homicide crimes violated the Eighth 
Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment). 

3 The victim was eighteen years old at the time. 
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After putting out food to later prepare breakfast, Bennett returned to his own room.  
Several minutes later, Bennett heard loud noises coming from the victim's room 
and went to investigate. 

Upon entering the victim's room, Bennett saw Smith stabbing the victim in his bed 
and telling the victim, "Didn't I tell you I was going to get you[?]"  Bennett ran in 
to the room and threw Smith off of the victim.  Smith then attacked Bennett, 
stabbing at him unsuccessfully with the knife while Bennett tried to shove the knife 
away and disarm Smith.  The victim attempted to assist Bennett but was too weak 
from his wounds and collapsed on the floor.  Bennett accused Smith of killing his 
son (the victim), and Smith laughed and said, "I'm going to kill you too 
motherfucker."  Eventually, Bennett was able to disarm Smith, and Smith fled the 
scene. The victim died from his wounds within minutes.  Smith was apprehended 
shortly thereafter. 

Following a jury trial, Smith was convicted of murder, attempted murder, and 
possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime.  Because Smith 
was seventeen at the time of the murder and faced a potential sentence of life 
without the possibility of parole, he was given an individualized sentencing 
hearing pursuant to Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014) (plurality 
opinion).  At the Aiken hearing, a mitigation expert testified at length about each of 
the five factors of youth identified in Miller and Aiken and how those factors 
applied to Smith. 

Smith also filed a motion requesting the circuit court declare section 16-3-20(A) 
unconstitutional as applied to juveniles because the statute did not sufficiently 
allow for an individualized consideration of the unique characteristics of youth, 
instead applying the same mandatory minimum sentence to juveniles and adults 
alike. The circuit court summarily denied the motion. 

At the conclusion of the Aiken hearing, the circuit court summarized the testimony 
related to each of the five factors and sentenced Smith.  Smith appealed, and we 
certified his appeal from the court of appeals pursuant to Rule 204(b), SCACR. 

II. 

Smith argues section 16-3-20(A) is unconstitutional because it treats juvenile and 
adult homicide offenders equally for sentencing purposes, in that both juveniles 
and adults are subject to the same mandatory minimum sentence.  Smith contends 
such a result ignores the scientific and constitutional differences between juveniles 

8 



 

 

 

 
 

  

                                           

 

 

 

 

and adults recognized by the Supreme Court in its juvenile sentencing cases.  See 
Miller, 567 U.S. at 471–80; Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 68–75 (2010); Roper 
v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 569–74 (2005). According to Smith, regardless of the 
evidence presented at an Aiken mitigation hearing, a mandatory minimum 
sentencing provision destroys the sentencer's ability to craft a lesser sentence if it 
deems leniency appropriate.  Thus, Smith claims mandatory minimum sentences 
run afoul of the Eighth Amendment and the spirit of the Supreme Court's decision 
in Miller. We disagree. 

We recently did an exhaustive analysis of the Roper-Graham-Miller trilogy and 
found we were constrained to narrowly interpret the holdings lest we—as an 
inferior (i.e., state) court—impermissibly broadened the reach of federal 
constitutional protections. See State v. Slocumb, 426 S.C. 297, 306–07, 827 S.E.2d 
148, 153 (2019) (citing Arkansas v. Sullivan, 532 U.S. 769, 772 (2001) (per 
curiam); Oregon v. Hass, 420 U.S. 714, 719 & n.4 (1975)).4  We are again being 
asked to ignore the confines of the holdings of the Supreme Court and instead 
extend the rationale underlying the holdings.  As in Slocumb, we decline the 
invitation and leave resolution of the reach of the Eighth Amendment, including 
any possible extensions, to the Supreme Court.  It is clear neither the Eighth 
Amendment nor Miller speaks directly to the issue of the constitutionality of 
mandatory minimum sentences.5  In so holding, we join the overwhelming 

4 Similarly, a majority of this Court (albeit not in the lead opinion) narrowly 
interpreted Miller's holding in Aiken. See Aiken, 410 S.C. at 545–46, 765 S.E.2d at 
578 (Pleicones, J., concurring) ("I agree with the [two dissenting Justices] that 
Miller does not require that we grant relief to juveniles who received discretionary 
life without the possibility of parole [] sentences, and that the [lead opinion] 
exceeds the scope of current Eighth Amendment jurisprudence in ordering relief 
under Miller . . . ."). 

5 Smith also argues that—in addition to the Eighth Amendment—article I, section 
15 of the South Carolina Constitution prohibits mandatory minimum sentences for 
juvenile offenders. We express no opinion on the applicability of the state 
constitution to Smith's argument, as he mentions the state constitution only in 
passing in his brief. See State v. Jones, 344 S.C. 48, 58–59, 543 S.E.2d 541, 546 
(2001) (declining to address the merits of a party's argument when the argument 
was conclusory and unsupported by discussion or citation to authority). 
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majority of jurisdictions that has found mandatory minimum sentences 
constitutional under the Eighth Amendment and Miller.6 

III. 

As the Supreme Court of Delaware concluded, "Now, it may be that the 'evolving 
standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society' will compel the 
United States Supreme Court to rule someday that the Eighth Amendment 
prohibits any minimum mandatory sentences for juvenile offenders, but Miller did 
not mark that day." Burrell, 207 A.3d at 146 (quoting Miller, 567 U.S. at 469–70). 
We therefore find section 16-3-20(A) is constitutional as applied to juveniles and 
affirm Smith's convictions and sentences.7 

6 See, e.g., People v. Tate, 352 P.3d 959, 970 (Colo. 2015); People v. Davis, 429 
P.3d 82, 93 (Colo. App. 2018), cert. denied, No. 18SC848, 2019 WL 670636, at *1 
(Colo. Feb. 19, 2019) (en banc); State v. Taylor G., 110 A.3d 338, 345–46 (Conn. 
2015); Burrell v. State, 207 A.3d 137, 144–45 & nn. 32–37 (Del. 2019) (collecting 
cases); James v. United States, 59 A.3d 1233, 1235 (D.C. 2013); State v. Michel, 
257 So. 3d 3, 4 (Fla. 2018), cert. denied, 139 S. Ct. 1401 (2019); Martinez v. State, 
256 So. 3d 897, 898–900 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2018); People v. Reyes, 63 N.E.3d 
884, 889 (Ill. 2016); People v. Banks, 36 N.E.3d 432, 439 (Ill. App. Ct. 2015); 
State v. Vang, 847 N.W.2d 248, 262–63 (Minn. 2014); Commonwealth v. 
Lawrence, 99 A.3d 116, 121 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2014); Lewis v. State, 428 S.W.3d 860, 
863–64 (Tex. Crim. App. 2014); Shalouei v. State, 524 S.W.3d 766, 767 (Tex. 
App. 2017), cert. denied, July 31, 2017; State v. Barbeau, 883 N.W.2d 520, 532 
(Wis. Ct. App. 2016) (collecting cases); see also State v. Zarate, 908 N.W.2d 831, 
846 (Iowa 2018) (reaching the same result under the state constitution so long as a 
juvenile offender was given an individualized sentencing hearing, similar to South 
Carolina's Aiken hearings).  But see State v. Link, 441 P.3d 664, 682 (Or. Ct. App. 
2019) (determining the imposition of a mandatory minimum sentence of life with 
the possibility of parole on a juvenile homicide offender without an individualized 
sentencing hearing was unconstitutional under the Eighth Amendment); State v. 
Houston-Sconiers, 391 P.3d 409, 420 (Wash. 2017) (en banc) (holding a sentencer 
was required to have complete discretion to sentence a juvenile as it felt 
appropriate, including below any statutorily-required mandatory minimums). 

7 As we stated in Slocumb, the General Assembly has introduced legislation that 
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AFFIRMED. 

BEATTY, C.J., FEW and JAMES, JJ., concur. HEARN, J., concurring in a 
separate opinion. 

would update juvenile sentencing practices in South Carolina in the wake of Roper, 
Graham, Miller, and Aiken. We are hopeful the General Assembly will continue to 
consider the unique difficulties inherent in juvenile sentencing and chart a 
legislative path forward to address this issue. 
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JUSTICE HEARN: I concur but write separately based on Aiken v. Byars and my 
dissent in State v. Slocumb. While I continue to believe my position in these cases is 
consistent with the jurisprudence developed by the United States Supreme Court, I 
wholeheartedly agree with the majority that a mandatory minimum sentence, such 
as the provision at issue here, does not violate the Eighth Amendment. Rather than 
ask this Court to require a sentencing hearing on the hallmarks of youth when a 
juvenile faces the possibility of incarceration for life—something Smith does not do 
because the trial judge conducted such a thorough hearing—Smith categorically 
contends mandatory minimum sentences unconstitutionally restrict the trial court's 
ability to analyze the Miller factors. While enabling trial courts to exercise more 
discretion in juvenile sentencing may be sound policy, I agree with the majority that 
the United States Supreme Court has not spoken on this issue. Accordingly, I concur. 
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THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
In The Supreme Court 

J. Scott Kunst, Respondent,  
 
v. 
 
David Loree, Petitioner. 
 
Appellate Case No. 2018-001700 

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS 

Appeal from Pickens County 
Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge 

Opinion No. 27929 
Submitted October 15, 2019 – Filed November 20, 2019 

CERTIORARI DISMISSED AS IMPROVIDENTLY 
GRANTED 

Violet Elizabeth Wright, of V. Elizabeth Wright Law Firm 
LLC, of Greenville, and Gregory K. Smith, of Smith, 
Gambrell & Russell, of Atlanta, Georgia, for Petitioner. 

J. Scott Kunst, pro se, for Respondent. 

PER CURIAM:  We issued a writ of certiorari to review the court of appeals' 
decision in Kunst v. Loree, 424 S.C. 24, 817 S.E.2d 295 (Ct. App. 2018).  We now 
dismiss the writ as improvidently granted. 
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DISMISSED AS IMPROVIDENTLY GRANTED. 

BEATTY, C.J., KITTREDGE, HEARN, FEW and JAMES, JJ., concur. 
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THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
In The Supreme Court 

Skydive Myrtle Beach, Inc., Petitioner, 
 
v. 
 
Horry County, Respondent. 
 
Appellate Case No. 2018-001910 

 

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS 

Appeal from Horry County 
Larry B. Hyman Jr., Circuit Court Judge,  

Opinion No. 27930 
Heard September 24, 2019 – Filed November 20, 2019 

REVERSED 

Robert Bratton Varnado, Brown & Varnado, LLC, of Mt. 
Pleasant, for Petitioner. 

Michael Warner Battle, Battle Law Firm, LLC, of 
Conway, for Respondent. 

JUSTICE FEW: Horry County filed an action in magistrates court to eject 
Skydive Myrtle Beach, Inc., from a hangar at the Grand Strand Airport in North 
Myrtle Beach, South Carolina.  The magistrates court found Skydive did not have 
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any right to occupy the hangar, and ejected Skydive.  The circuit court affirmed. 
Skydive appealed to the court of appeals, which dismissed the appeal on the ground 
it was moot.  We granted Skydive's petition for a writ of certiorari.  We reverse the 
court of appeals because we hold the appeal is not moot.  On the merits, we agree 
with the magistrates court and the circuit court that Skydive has no right to occupy 
the hangar. Thus, we affirm the circuit court. 

I. Facts and Procedural History 

Horry County owns Grand Strand Airport. Until 2013, the County leased the airport 
to Grand Strand Aviation, which operated under the name Ramp 66.  On May 10, 
2012, Ramp 66 entered into an agreement with Skydive allowing Skydive to use "a 
minimum of" 2,500 square feet of what is commonly called the "bird hangar" to 
operate its skydiving business.  The agreement provided, "This agreement remains 
in effect through Grand Strand Aviation's lease with Horry County Department of 
Airports through July 2020 unless both parties agree to any changes in writing." 

Horry County terminated its lease with Ramp 66 in August 2013 and began its own 
management of the airport. On September 13, 2013, Horry County and Skydive 
entered into a new agreement entitled "Space Use Permit."  The new agreement was 
designed to allow Skydive to continue operations at the bird hangar while it 
negotiated a longer-term lease directly with the County.  The Space Use Permit 
granted Skydive the right to "occupy and use" a much larger portion of the bird 
hangar—6,800 square feet—than Skydive occupied under the May 2012 agreement. 
It also granted Skydive the right to use the hangar at night, a right Skydive did not 
have under the May 2012 agreement.  The Space Use Permit stated "it shall continue 
in force and effect until January 31, 2014," and "either party may terminate [it] for 
any reason by giving at least thirty days written notice to the other party."  

Skydive continued to occupy the bird hangar and to operate its skydiving business 
after January 31, but it did not enter into a new lease.  On February 19, Horry County 
wrote Skydive listing numerous safety-related concerns about Skydive's operations.  
The County's letter advised Skydive the Space Use Permit had expired and "you are 
currently occupying County property without any right or authorization."  The letter 
explained that in light of what the County perceived to be Skydive's poor safety 
record and other concerns, "Horry County is unwilling to offer Skydive a leasehold 
interest." Instead, the letter offered "a new, short-term Space Use Permit" that would 
allow Skydive to continue occupying the hangar until July 31, 2014.  This new Space 
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Use Permit would have imposed additional safety requirements that were not in the 
original Space Use Permit.  The letter stated that if Skydive did not sign the new 
Space Use Permit within seventy-two hours, "you will need to vacate the premises 
immediately." Skydive did not respond to the February 19 letter. 

On February 28, 2014, Skydive filed a lawsuit in circuit court against Horry County, 
Horry County Department of Airports, and several individually named County 
employees.  Skydive alleged the defendants improperly conspired to remove it from 
the bird hangar, breached the May 2012 agreement, and otherwise tortiously 
interfered with Skydive's business.  The nature and progress of that lawsuit—which 
is still pending—are discussed in Skydive Myrtle Beach, Inc. v. Horry County, 426 
S.C. 175, 826 S.E.2d 585 (2019). 

Horry County filed this ejectment action on June 5, 2014.  The magistrates court 
entered an order ejecting Skydive from the bird hangar, and Skydive appealed to the 
circuit court. The magistrates court allowed Skydive to remain in the bird hangar— 
pending the circuit court's decision on appeal—by making a monthly bond payment 
equal to the rent Skydive paid under the Space Use Permit.  The circuit court 
affirmed the ejectment order.  Skydive made a motion for a stay of the order, which 
the circuit court denied.   

Skydive appealed the circuit court order to the court of appeals on August 24, 2015. 
Three years later, the court of appeals dismissed the appeal as moot.  Skydive Myrtle 
Beach, Inc. v. Horry Cty., 424 S.C. 298, 303, 818 S.E.2d 224, 227 (Ct. App. 2018). 
We granted Skydive's petition for a writ of certiorari to review the court of appeals' 
decision. 

II. Mootness 

Skydive argues that when the Space Use Permit expired on January 31, 2014, 
Skydive's right to occupy the bird hangar was once again governed by the May 2012 
agreement. Horry County, of course, disagrees.  However, if the May 2012 
agreement does control, Skydive retains the right to occupy the bird hangar "through 
July 2020."  If the court of appeals had agreed with Skydive—or if this Court were 
now to agree—we could order that Skydive may move back into the bird hangar 
"through July 2020." 
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A case is moot "when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon 
existing controversy." Mathis v. S.C. State Highway Dep't, 260 S.C. 344, 346, 195 
S.E.2d 713, 715 (1973). This case is not moot because a decision to reverse the 
ejectment order could have the practical effect of putting Skydive back in possession 
of the bird hangar. 

In support of its decision to dismiss the appeal as moot, the court of appeals relied 
on Berry v. Zahler, 220 S.C. 86, 66 S.E.2d 459 (1951). In Berry, a magistrates court 
issued an order of ejectment against a residential tenant.  220 S.C. at 87, 66 S.E.2d 
at 459. On appeal to this Court, the tenants admitted they voluntarily vacated the 
premises during the appeal and that they had delivered possession of the residence 
to the landlord. 220 S.C. at 87, 66 S.E.2d at 460.  We stated, "In their brief is the 
statement that since the trial before the magistrate they have vacated the premises 
and delivered possession to the landlord. Under these circumstances, the issue, 
which was the right to possession of the premises, has become moot, and the appeal 
will not be considered." Id.  The key fact in Berry that made the tenant's appeal moot 
was the tenant vacated the premises voluntarily. 

Skydive did not vacate the bird hangar voluntarily.  After the circuit court affirmed 
the ejectment order and denied Skydive's request for a stay of the order, ten Horry 
County sheriff's deputies arrived at the hangar to ensure Skydive vacated the 
premises by the court-ordered deadline.  In contrast to the Berry tenant's voluntary 
relinquishment of possession, Skydive repeatedly contested all rulings by the courts 
in an obvious effort to remain in the bird hangar.  At oral argument before this Court, 
counsel for Skydive confirmed his client's intent to resume possession if the 
magistrates court's ejectment order is reversed.   

In its explanation of its dismissal on the grounds of mootness, the court of appeals 
stated, "Skydive has not possessed the property in almost three years."  424 S.C. at 
303, 818 S.E.2d at 227. The court gave no reason the three-year delay affects 
whether the appeal is moot.  We find nothing in this record to indicate Skydive 
unnecessarily delayed the resolution of this appeal.  While it is unfortunate the court 
of appeals took three years to resolve the appeal, as we have explained, the court still 
has the power to grant the relief Skydive seeks.  Therefore, the delay in this case has 
nothing to do with whether the appeal is moot. 
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III. Skydive's Right to Occupy the Hangar 

Having determined the court of appeals should not have dismissed the appeal, we 
turn to the merits.1  Skydive's argument depends on the continued validity of the 
May 2012 agreement after the execution of the Space Use Permit.  Under the terms 
of the May 2012 agreement, Skydive contends, it remains entitled to occupy the bird 
hangar through July 2020.  The May 2012 agreement is the only basis on which 
Skydive claims it has any right to occupy the hangar.   

We agree with the magistrates court and the circuit court that the May 2012 
agreement is no longer in effect.  The Space Use Permit provides in clear and 
unambiguous terms it "constitutes the complete agreement of the parties with respect 
to" occupancy of the hangar and "supersedes all previous agreements."  In response 
to this point, Skydive argues the May 2012 agreement provides that it "remains in 
effect through Grand Strand Aviation's lease with Horry County Department of 
Airports through July 2020 unless both parties agree to any changes in writing." 
When Horry County terminated its agreement with Grand Strand Aviation/Ramp 66, 
however, Horry County became the party with the right to "agree in writing" to 
change the relationship. It did precisely that in executing the Space Use Permit, 
which according to its clear and unambiguous terms expired on January 31, 2014. 
When the Space Use Permit expired, Skydive retained no right to continue to occupy 
the hangar. 

1 Initially, the parties briefed to this Court only the issue of mootness.  Though our 
record contains the parties' briefs to the court of appeals on the merits, after oral 
argument, we gave both sides the opportunity to brief the merits directly to this 
Court. We later received supplemental briefs from Skydive and Horry County 
addressing the merits of whether Skydive retains any right to occupy the bird hangar. 
Skydive also raised procedural issues to the court of appeals.  To the extent those 
issues have not been addressed by the court of appeals or this Court, we find it 
unnecessary to do so because our resolution of the merits ends this case.  See Futch 
v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc., 335 S.C. 598, 613, 518 S.E.2d 591, 598 
(1999) (stating an "appellate court need not address remaining issues when 
disposition of prior issue is dispositive"). 
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IV. Conclusion 

The appeal is not moot because Skydive did not voluntarily vacate the bird hangar, 
and a ruling in favor of Skydive could put it back in possession.  However, the Space 
Use Permit superseded the May 2012 agreement, and the Space Use Permit is 
expired. Skydive has no right to occupy the bird hangar. We reverse the court of 
appeals and affirm the circuit court. 

REVERSED. 

BEATTY, C.J., KITTREDGE, HEARN and JAMES, JJ., concur. 
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THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
In The Court of Appeals 

The State, Respondent, 
 
v. 
 
Gregory Lamont Brooks, Appellant. 
 
Appellate Case No. 2016-002301 

Appeal From Lexington County 
Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  

Opinion No. 5693 
Heard October 14, 2019 – Filed November 20, 2019 

AFFIRMED 

Appellate Defender Susan Barber Hackett, of Columbia, 
for Appellant. 

Attorney General Alan McCrory Wilson, Chief Deputy 
Attorney General W. Jeffrey Young, Deputy Attorney 
General Donald J. Zelenka, Senior Assistant Deputy 
Attorney General Melody Jane Brown, Senior Assistant 
Deputy Attorney General William M. Blitch, Jr., and 
Assistant Attorney General Samuel Marion Bailey, all of 
Columbia; and Solicitor Samuel R. Hubbard, III, of 
Lexington, for Respondent. 
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GEATHERS, J.:  Appellant Gregory Lamont Brooks seeks reversal of his 
convictions for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a 
violent crime.  Appellant argues the circuit court erred by instructing the jury that 
malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon because there was evidence 
that could have reduced the murder charge to voluntary manslaughter and, therefore, 
the instruction was confusing and prejudicial.  Appellant also argues the circuit court 
erred by excluding from evidence two photographs found on the cell phone of a bar 
patron present at the shooting and in communication with a suspect because the 
photographs, which depicted a gun, were relevant to Appellant's defense of third 
party guilt. We affirm. 

FACTS/PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

In the early morning hours of February 2, 2014, Fred Moss, Brandon Ratliff, 
and Andre Bunch visited the Cockpit Bar and Grill on Berryhill Road in Columbia. 
Andre drove separately and met Fred and Brandon at the bar.  Andre had to park his 
car in the road because all of the spaces in the parking lot were taken.  The three 
friends separated after they arrived, and Fred began a conversation with a female 
sitting at the bar. 

Two or three minutes later, Fred noticed several people on the dance floor 
looking at him.  A man wearing a skull cap was held back by others as he tried to 
approach Fred. Fred had the impression that he must have been speaking with 
"somebody['s] girl."  Then a young man with dreadlocks extending past his 
shoulders approached Fred, "said something slick," and asked "What's up?"  Fred 
responded, "What's up?," and "things started escalating."  Andre observed Fred and 
several other people "fussing back and forth."  Andre was concerned, so he briefly 
talked with Fred and, separately, with Brandon, then went to close out his tab.  As 
Andre was paying his tab, he noticed a bouncer escorting Fred and Brandon out of 
the bar. Andre walked outside approximately five minutes later.     

The group of people arguing with Fred followed him and Brandon into the 
parking lot.1  Brandon went to the driver's side of Fred's car, and Fred went to the 
passenger's side and tried to open the door, but it was locked.  Fred then noticed the 
hostile group behind him. Fred adjusted his belt in an attempt to convey the 
impression he was armed and to "scare them away," but he later testified that the 
hostile group did not see that. Fred testified the man with the long dreadlocks and 

1 Andre testified that all of the bar patrons were leaving at that time because the bar 
was closing. 
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Appellant, who had shorter, shoulder-length dreadlocks, were displaying their guns, 
pacing back and forth, and stating, "What's up now?"  As soon as Fred saw that they 
were armed, Fred raised his hands to show he was unarmed.2  Nevertheless,  
Appellant unleashed a hail of gunfire toward Brandon and then Fred as Appellant 
paced back and forth. Appellant then started shooting at Fred's car as he paced  
backwards, approaching Rickena Knightner's parked car.  Rickena, who had 
previously met Appellant and knew him by the nickname "Dink," testified that as he  
was approaching her car, she saw he had a gun and said, "[N]o, Dink, No, Dink."  
Appellant responded, "Get down" while gesturing with his arm for her to stay out of 
the way. After Appellant stopped firing his gun, he immediately ran to, and entered, 
a car that had pulled up behind Rickena's car and fled the scene.     

 
Fred began looking for Brandon and discovered him lying in the middle of the 

road with blood on his chest. Andre, who had been walking to his car when he heard 
the gunshots, realized Fred and Brandon might be in trouble, so he jumped in his car 
and raced to Brandon's location.  Andre placed Brandon in the back seat of his car  
with Fred and rushed to Lexington Medical Center.  Tragically, Brandon bled out on 
the way to the hospital due to a bullet lacerating his heart.   

 
Appellant was indicted for murder and possession of a weapon during the 

commission of a violent crime.  After the jury found Appellant guilty on both 
charges, the circuit court sentenced Appellant to thirty-five years' imprisonment for 
murder and five years' imprisonment for weapon possession, to be served 
concurrently. This appeal followed. 

 
ISSUES ON APPEAL 

   
1.  Did the circuit court err by charging the jury that malice may be inferred from 

the use of a deadly weapon? 
 

2.  Was the implied malice jury charge harmless beyond a reasonable doubt? 
 
3.  Did the circuit court abuse its discretion by excluding the two gun photographs 

from evidence? 
 

2 At trial, Fred testified during direct examination, "I was standing there with my 
hands like this (indicating.)."  On cross examination, Fred testified, "I had my hands 
up because they had the real thing. I'm over here playing[,] and they had the real 
thing[,] so I just held my hands up like that." (emphases added).   
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STANDARD OF REVIEW  
 
 An appellate court will not reverse a trial court's decision regarding a jury 
instruction unless there is an abuse of discretion.  State v. Cottrell, 421 S.C. 622, 
643, 809 S.E.2d 423, 435 (2017). Likewise, "[t]he admission of evidence is within 
the circuit court's discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of 
that discretion." State v. Dickerson, 395 S.C. 101, 116, 716 S.E.2d 895, 903 (2011).  
"An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of 
law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support."  State 
v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 570, 647 S.E.2d 144, 166–67 (2007). 
 

LAW/ANALYSIS 
 
I.  Inferred Malice Instruction 

 
Appellant argues the circuit court erred by instructing the jury that malice may  

be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon because there was evidence that could 
have reduced the murder charge to voluntary manslaughter and, therefore, the 
instruction was confusing and prejudicial.  In support of this argument, Appellant 
cites State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 610, 685 S.E.2d 802, 809 (2009), overruled in  
part by State v. Burdette, 427 S.C. 490, 505 n.3, 832 S.E.2d 575, 583 n.3 (2019).   
Appellant also argues that the circuit court's error cannot be considered harmless 
because the instruction was given shortly after the circuit court instructed the jury to 
examine the surrounding circumstances to determine criminal intent.  We will 
address these arguments in turn.         

 
A.  Merits 

 
1.  Impact of State v. Burdette  
 

In Belcher, our supreme court held that when evidence of self-defense or any  
evidence that would reduce, mitigate, excuse, or justify a homicide is presented, the 
circuit court may not charge the jury that malice may be inferred from the use of a 
deadly weapon. 385 S.C. at 610, 685 S.E.2d at 809.  However, in State v. Burdette, 
our supreme court recently held in a unanimous decision, "[R]egardless of the 
evidence presented at trial, a trial court shall not instruct the jury that it may infer 
the existence of malice when the deed was done with a deadly weapon."  427 S.C. 
at 503, 832 S.E.2d at 582 (emphasis added).  The court explained that this particular 
jury charge was an impermissible charge on the facts.  Id. at 502–03, 832 S.E.2d at  
582. The court also held that this ruling was effective in cases pending on direct 
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review or not yet final, as long as the issue is preserved.  Id. at 505, 832 S.E.2d at  
583. The court overruled "in part" prior case law, including Belcher, "insofar as it  
can be construed that [the court had] approved a trial court's charge that a jury may 
infer the existence of malice from the defendant's use of a deadly weapon." Id. at 
505 n.3, 832 S.E.2d at 583 n.3. 
 

In light of Burdette, the circuit court's inferred malice instruction in the present 
case clearly constitutes error.  Further, this new point of law is properly before the 
court because the Burdette opinion was issued after the parties in the present case 
filed their final briefs, and since that time, Appellant has referenced  Burdette as a 
supplemental citation pursuant to Rule 208(b)(7), SCACR.  Nonetheless, we address 
below whether the inferred malice instruction also ran afoul of Belcher to the extent 
this issue could affect a harmless error analysis.   

 
2. Violation of Belcher  

 
"The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at 

trial." State v. Childers, 373 S.C. 367, 373, 645 S.E.2d 233, 236 (2007).  Here,  
Appellant argues there was evidence that the shooting resulted from sudden heat of 
passion upon sufficient legal provocation, thus reducing the offense of murder to 
voluntary manslaughter. See State v. Oates, 421 S.C. 1, 23, 803 S.E.2d 911, 923– 
24 (Ct. App. 2017) (defining voluntary manslaughter as "the unlawful killing of a 
human being in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation" (quoting 
State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 596, 698 S.E.2d 604, 608 (2010))). Appellant asserts 
the presence of this evidence in the case prohibited the circuit court from giving an 
inferred malice jury instruction. However, there was no evidence of sufficient legal  
provocation. See State v. Byrd, 323 S.C. 319, 322, 474 S.E.2d 430, 432 (1996) 
("Both heat of passion and sufficient legal provocation must be present at the time  
of the killing."). 

 
First, there is no evidence that Brandon interacted with Appellant.  Further, 

assuming Fred's behavior could be considered in this analysis,3 his argument with 
Appellant and his companions was not enough to constitute legal provocation.  See 
Byrd, 323 S.C. 319, 322, 474 S.E.2d 430, 432 ("Where death is caused by the use of 

                                                            
3  See State v. Wharton, 381 S.C. 209, 215, 672 S.E.2d 786, 789 (2009) ("[T]he 
applicability of the doctrine of transferred intent to voluntary manslaughter cases 
whe[n] the defendant kills an unintended victim upon sufficient legal provocation 
committed by a third party remains an unsettled question in South Carolina." 
(emphasis added)). 
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a deadly weapon, words alone, however opprobrious, are not sufficient to constitute 
a legal provocation."). Moreover, even if Appellant saw Fred's subsequent act of 
adjusting his belt and could have interpreted this act as reaching for a weapon, Fred 
raised his hands before Appellant started shooting to show Appellant that he was 
unarmed. Cf. Wharton, 381 S.C. at 214, 672 S.E.2d at 788 (finding there was no 
evidence of sufficient legal provocation when there was no evidence showing the 
victim provoked the appellant, "and although there was evidence that [the appellant] 
and [a third party] argued and exchanged words, there was no evidence [the third 
party] posed a threat to [the appellant] either by possessing a weapon or through 
hostile acts"). Therefore, we reject Appellant's argument that there was evidence 
reducing the offense from murder to voluntary manslaughter. 

B. Harmless Error 

"Most trial errors, even those [that] violate a defendant's constitutional rights, 
are subject to harmless-error analysis."  State v. Rivera, 402 S.C. 225, 246, 741 
S.E.2d 694, 705 (2013). "The Supreme Court has found 'an error to be "structural," 
and thus subject to automatic reversal only in a very limited class of cases.'"  Id. at 
247, 741 S.E.2d at 705 (quoting Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 8 (1999)). 
"When considering whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, 
[the appellate court] must 'determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error 
complained of did not contribute to the verdict.'" Burdette, 427 S.C. at 496, 832 
S.E.2d at 578 (quoting State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 
(2014)). 

"In making a harmless error analysis, [the appellate court's] inquiry is not what 
the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether 
the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered."  Id. (quoting Middleton, 
407 S.C. at 317, 755 S.E.2d at 435).  "To say that an error did not 'contribute' to the 
ensuing verdict is not, of course, to say that the jury was totally unaware of that 
feature of the trial later held to have been erroneous." Yates v. Evatt, 500 U.S. 391, 
403 (1991), overruled on other grounds by Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62 (1991). 
Rather, it is "to find that error unimportant in relation to everything else the jury 
considered on the issue in question, as revealed in the record."  Id. 

"Thus, whether or not the error was harmless is a fact-intensive inquiry." 
Middleton, 407 S.C. at 317, 755 S.E.2d at 435.  The appellate court "must review 
the facts the jury heard and weigh those facts against the erroneous jury charge to 
determine what effect, if any, it had on the verdict."  State v. Kerr, 330 S.C. 132, 
145, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct. App. 1998).  Further, "[w]hen considering whether an 
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incorrect jury instruction constitutes harmless error, [the appellate court is] required 
to review the trial court's charge to the jury in its entirety."  Burdette, 427 S.C. at 
498, 832 S.E.2d at 580 (citing State v. Stanko, 402 S.C. 252, 264, 741 S.E.2d 708, 
714 (2013), overruled on other grounds by Burdette, 427 S.C. at 505 n.3, 832 S.E.2d 
at 583 n.3); Stanko, 402 S.C. at 264, 741 S.E.2d at 714 ("Jury instructions should be 
considered as a whole, and if as a whole, they are free from error, any isolated 
portions [that] may be misleading do not constitute reversible error.").   

Moreover, in Stanko, our supreme court acknowledged, "[O]ften in murder 
cases there will be overwhelming evidence of malice, apart from the use of a deadly 
weapon." 402 S.C. at 264, 741 S.E.2d at 714.  In evaluating the evidence of malice 
in the case before it, the court observed that the State presented uncontested evidence 
showing the appellant "shot the Victim, his elderly and unarmed friend, in the back 
using a pillow as a silencer," then robbed him, "and for the next several days used 
his automobile to travel across the state, where he engaged in social activities and 
drinking." Id.  The court further observed, "Authorities apprehended [the a]ppellant 
in possession of the Victim's vehicle and the gun used in the murder.  Thus, the 
evidence of malice in this case is not limited to [the a]ppellant's use of a deadly 
weapon." Id. 

The court also examined the malice instruction in light of all of the jury 
instructions as a whole. Id. at 265, 741 S.E.2d at 714. The court stressed that in 
addition to instructing the jury that malice could be inferred from the use of a deadly 
weapon, the circuit court "also stated that malice 'can be inferred from conduct 
showing total disregard for human life'" and that the appellant challenged merely the 
"deadly weapon" language. Id. at 265, 741 S.E.2d at 715. The court concluded the 
jury could have found that the appellant's conduct showed a total disregard for 
human life and, therefore, the appellant could not have suffered prejudice from any 
separate inference that his use of a deadly weapon also gave rise to an inference of 
malice. Id.  Based on its examination of the jury instructions as a whole and the 
evidence of malice aside from the use of a deadly weapon, the court held that the 
circuit court's Belcher violation did not constitute reversible error. Id. 

In the present case, Appellant argues, "[I]t is conceivable that the evidence to 
support a finding of malice was the use of the weapon . . . ." However, Appellant 
does not argue it is conceivable that his use of the gun was the only evidence of 
malice. Cf. Belcher, 385 S.C. at 612, 685 S.E.2d at 810 ("It is entirely conceivable 
that the only evidence of malice was Belcher's use of a handgun.  We need go no 
further than saying we cannot conclude the error was harmless beyond a reasonable 
doubt." (emphasis added)).  Appellant also maintains that the State "cannot prove 
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the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Appellant argues that the 
erroneous instruction was given shortly after the circuit court instructed the jury to 
examine the surrounding circumstances to determine criminal intent and that the 
circumstances involved the use of a gun.  Yet, Appellant does not explain why the 
State could not prove malice through the other circumstances of the case.  See Kerr, 
330 S.C. at 145, 498 S.E.2d at 218 ("The appellate court "must review the facts the 
jury heard and weigh those facts against the erroneous jury charge to determine what 
effect, if any, it had on the verdict.").  Here, as in Stanko, the circuit court included 
the following statement in its jury instructions on malice:  "Malice also may be 
inferred from conduct showing a total disregard of human life." Appellant has not 
challenged this instruction.  Further, as in Stanko, the jury could have found that 
Appellant's conduct showed a total disregard for human life.   

In other words, aside from any inference of malice the jury may have drawn 
from Appellant's use of a deadly weapon, the evidence of Appellant's other conduct 
satisfied the definition of malice.  See In re Tracy B., 391 S.C. 51, 69, 704 S.E.2d 
71, 80 (Ct. App. 2010) ("'Malice' is the wrongful intent to injure another and 
indicates a wicked or depraved spirit intent on doing wrong." (quoting State v. 
Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 62, 502 S.E.2d 63, 69 (1998))); id. ("It is the doing of a wrongful 
act intentionally and without just cause or excuse." (emphasis added) (quoting Tate 
v. State, 351 S.C. 418, 426, 570 S.E.2d 522, 527 (2002))); id. ("Malice can be 
inferred from conduct [that] is so reckless and wanton as to indicate a depravity of 
mind and general disregard for human life. In the context of murder, malice does 
not require ill-will toward the individual injured, but rather it signifies "a general 
malignant recklessness of the lives and safety of others, or a condition of the mind 
[that] shows a heart regardless of social duty and fatally bent on mischief." (emphasis 
added) (citation omitted) (quoting State v. Mouzon, 231 S.C. 655, 662, 99 S.E.2d 
672, 675–76 (1957))). 

Appellant's conduct preceding, and immediately after, his choice to use a gun 
showed a "total disregard for human life."4  After Fred and Brandon exited the 
Cockpit and went to Fred's car, Appellant and another man appeared behind Fred, 
displayed their guns, paced back and forth, and taunted Fred, who was locked out of 
his car. As soon as Fred saw that they were armed, Fred raised his hands to show he 
was unarmed, but Appellant was unaffected by this capitulation.  Aside from his 
mere use of a deadly weapon, Appellant's reckless behavior began with a hail of 
gunfire, first in the direction of Brandon, then Fred, as he paced back and forth, and 

4  Stanko, 402 S.C. at 265, 741 S.E.2d at 715; see In re Tracy B., 391 S.C. at 69, 704 
S.E.2d at 80 (quoting Mouzon, 231 S.C. at 662, 99 S.E.2d at 675–76).  
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finally toward Fred's car as he paced backwards, approaching Rickena's parked car.5 

Rickena testified that as Appellant approached her car, she saw he had a gun and 
said, "[N]o, Dink, No, Dink." Appellant responded, "Get down" while gesturing 
with his arm for her to stay out of the way.  After Appellant stopped firing his gun, 
he immediately ran to, and entered, a car that had pulled up behind Rickena's car and 
fled the scene. 

Additionally, Appellant's efforts to cover up his guilt indicate his malice.  Cf. 
State v. Ballington, 346 S.C. 262, 273, 551 S.E.2d 280, 286 (Ct. App. 2001), 
overruled on other grounds by Belcher, 385 S.C. at 612, 685 S.E.2d at 810 
("[E]vidence Ballington attempted to cover up how his wife died suggests he killed 
her with a wicked or depraved spirit."). During her closing argument, the prosecutor 
highlighted several of these efforts.  First, between 6:00 and 7:00 a.m. on the 
morning of the shooting, Appellant made thirteen calls from his cell phone, all 
originating from the area surrounding the Cockpit, and then changed his cell phone 
number the next day.  Second, when Appellant gave a statement to police on 
February 10, 2014, he lied about who picked him up at the Cockpit, stating that his 
son's mother, Denique Banks, picked him up "around 2:30 to 3:00 a.m."  Denique 
testified that when she informed police that she had picked up Appellant from the 
Cockpit on the morning in question, she was lying.  She did not, in fact, pick him up 
that morning.  Eric Brown, who was with Appellant inside the Cockpit before the 
shooting, testified that Appellant got into Eric's car as Eric was leaving.   

Third, Appellant lied about the time he left the Cockpit.  He told police that 
Denique picked him up around 2:30 or 3:00 a.m., but Fred, Brandon and Andre did 
not even arrive at the Cockpit until that time, and police did not arrive to investigate 
the shooting until 6:00 a.m., around the same time Appellant was making calls from 
his cell phone while still in the vicinity. He also lied about his nickname, denying 
that it was Dink. 

Finally, Appellant cut his hair after the February 2 shooting and lied to police 
about it. When he gave a statement to police on February 10, he told police that he 
had cut his hair two to three weeks prior to that day.  That would mean that Appellant 
cut his hair before the shooting. Yet, when Fred picked out Appellant from a photo 
lineup on April 14, he noticed Appellant's hair was shorter in the photo than it was 
at the time of the shooting. Rickena noticed the same discrepancy when she picked 
out Appellant from a photo lineup.  Appellant also told police that he cut his 
dreadlocks for his job, he "wanted people to look at [him] differently," and he "was 

5 Ten shell casings were later collected at the scene.   
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tired of being judged." However, the assistant manager at his place of employment, 
Zaxby's, testified that dreadlocks were allowed and that it would not be Zaxby's 
policy to ask an employee to cut them; rather, employees with hair extending below 
the shoulders would have to tie their hair back.  Appellant interviewed for the job at 
Zaxby's on February 5 and started working there on February 7, just a few days after 
the shooting.  Denique testified that Appellant had worn dreadlocks at other 
restaurants where he had worked before working at Zaxby's.   

Based on the foregoing evidence, the jury could have found that Appellant's 
conduct showed a total disregard for human life, allowing the jury to infer malice 
from this conduct after having been correctly instructed by the circuit court that they 
could do so. See supra. Accordingly, Appellant "could not have suffered prejudice 
from any separate inference that his use of a deadly weapon also gave rise to an 
inference of malice."  Stanko, 402 S.C. at 265, 741 S.E.2d at 715.  We acknowledge 
our supreme court's exposition of the prejudice resulting from a "court-sponsored 
emphasis of a fact in evidence." Burdette, 427 S.C. at 503, 832 S.E.2d at 582; see 
id. at 502–03, 832 S.E.2d at 582 ("Even telling the jury that it is to give evidence of 
the use of a deadly weapon only the weight the jury determines it should be given 
does not remove the taint of the trial court's injection of its commentary upon that 
evidence.").  Nevertheless, the circuit court's "commentary" on the use of a deadly 
weapon in the present case could not have eclipsed the impact of Fred's powerful 
testimony that he raised his hands to show he was unarmed and this capitulation had 
no effect on Appellant.  See Yates, 500 U.S. at 403 ("To say that an error did not 
contribute to the verdict is . . . to find that error unimportant in relation to everything 
else the jury considered on the issue in question, as revealed in the record." 
(emphasis added)); Burdette, 427 S.C. at 496, 832 S.E.2d at 578 ("When considering 
whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, we must 'determine 
beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the 
verdict.'" (quoting Middleton, 407 S.C. at 317, 755 S.E.2d at 435)).   

We also note the jury submitted three questions to the circuit court, two of 
which concerned malice, and none of these questions concerned the inference of 
malice from the use of a deadly weapon. Rather, the jury's questions about malice 
concerned how to "consider . . . intoxication [with] respect to the state of mind" and 
whether the jury could consider intoxication if not presented with "explicit evidence" 
of it. The third question asked if the jury could "convict someone of possession of 
a deadly weapon without a weapon."6  In response, the circuit court instructed the 
jury that voluntary intoxication is not a defense to a crime.  The circuit court also 

6 Police did not recover a gun connected to the shooting. 
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instructed the jury that (1) the State accused Appellant of possession of a weapon 
while committing a violent crime, (2) the State had to prove the violent crime of 
murder or voluntary manslaughter, and (3) the testimony and evidence was what the 
jury could consider. The jury's questions and the circuit court's response suggested 
that the jury was not focused on, or affected by, the erroneous inferred malice 
instruction. See Yates, 500 U.S. at 403 ("To say that an error did not contribute to 
the verdict is . . . to find that error unimportant in relation to everything else the jury 
considered on the issue in question, as revealed in the record.").   

We conclude that, beyond a reasonable doubt, the challenged inferred malice 
instruction did not contribute to the verdict and, thus, did not constitute reversible 
error. 

II. Exclusion of Photographs 

Appellant asserts the circuit court erred by excluding from evidence two 
photographs found on the cell phone of a bar patron present at the shooting and in 
communication with a suspect.  He argues the photographs showed a gun of the same 
caliber as shell casings found at the scene and, thus, were relevant to his defense of 
third party guilt. He maintains that the photographs "would have assisted the jury in 
determining whether [he] was the person who shot Brandon or whether someone 
else was the triggerman." We conclude that the circuit court acted within its 
discretion in excluding the photographs from evidence. See Dickerson, 395 S.C. at 
116, 716 S.E.2d at 903 ("The admission of evidence is within the circuit court's 
discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion.").   

It is well-established that a criminal defendant's offer of evidence concerning 
a third party's commission of the charged crime "must be limited to such facts as are 
inconsistent with his own guilt[] and to such facts as raise a reasonable inference or 
presumption as to his own innocence."  State v. Gregory, 198 S.C. 98, 104, 16 S.E.2d 
532, 534 (1941) (quoting 16 C.J. 560) (cited with approval in Holmes v. South 
Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 328 (2006)).  "[E]vidence [that] can have [no] other effect 
than to cast a bare suspicion upon another, or to raise a conjectural inference as to 
the commission of the crime by another, is not admissible."  Id. (third alteration in 
original) (quoting 16 C.J. 560). 

[B]efore such testimony can be received, there must be 
such proof of connection with it, such a train of facts or 
circumstances, as tends clearly to point out such other 
person as the guilty party. Remote acts, disconnected and 

31 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

outside the crime itself, cannot be separately proved for 
such a purpose. An orderly and unbiased judicial inquiry 
as to the guilt or innocence of a defendant on trial does not 
contemplate that such defendant be permitted, by way of 
defense, to indulge in conjectural inferences that some 
other person might have committed the offense for which 
he is on trial, or by fanciful analogy to say to the jury that 
someone other than he is more probably guilty. 

Id. at 104–05, 16 S.E.2d at 535 (emphasis added) (quoting 20 Am. Jur. 254).   

"[T]he Gregory rule requires the trial judge to consider the probative value or 
the potential adverse effects of admitting proffered third-party guilt evidence."  State 
v. Swafford, 375 S.C. 637, 641, 654 S.E.2d 297, 299 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing Holmes, 
547 U.S. at 329). In Holmes, the United States Supreme Court characterized the 
Gregory rule's purpose as focusing "the trial on the central issues by excluding 
evidence that has only a very weak logical connection to the central issues."  547 
U.S. at 330. The Holmes court recognized that evidence of third-party guilt is 
appropriately managed by evidentiary rules such as Rule 403, SCRE.  547 U.S. at 
327. Rule 403 states, "Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative 
value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the 
issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or 
needless presentation of cumulative evidence."  "A trial judge's decision regarding 
the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be 
reversed only in exceptional circumstances."  State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 
763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014) (quoting State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 
785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003)). The appellate court reviews the circuit court's Rule 403 
ruling "pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and [is] obligated to give great 
deference to the [circuit] court's judgment."  Id. 

Here, when defense counsel proffered the photographs at trial, she explained 
that the gun from the photographs was a .22 caliber gun that held nine .22 caliber 
"shell casings or bullets" and nine shell casings were collected from the scene after 
the shooting.  However, the record indicates that ten, rather than nine, shell casings 
were collected at the scene. Counsel stated that the photographs were discovered 
the day after the shooting on the cell phone of Josie Paxton, who was inside the 
Cockpit at the time of the shooting.  Counsel also stated that Josie gave a statement 
to police and they took her phone because Antonio "Bling" Williams, her ex-
boyfriend, "texted her and called her and told her that [his] home dog just shot [his] 
other home dog."  Yet, there is no evidence in the record substantiating the contents 
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of Bling's alleged text to Josie.  Ultimately, the circuit court ruled that the 
photographs were inadmissible because they would be confusing to the jury.  In light 
of the other evidence presented at trial, this ruling was correct. 

Josie Paxton testified that she was inside the Cockpit when the shooting 
occurred. She spoke with the police later that morning and advised them that Bling 
had information about the shooting. However, she did not identify Bling as the 
shooter. Sergeant Cathy Etheredge, a deputy with the Lexington County Sheriff's 
Office, spoke to Josie in a parking lot near the Cockpit and took photographs of text 
messages on Josie's cell phone.  Sergeant Etheredge stated that Josie was agitated 
with Bling, with whom she had just spoken by phone, and she was upset about the 
shooting.  Sergeant Etheredge also stated that Bling "showed up at the club where 
[Josie] was," but she did not state when this occurred.  Sergeant Etheredge later met 
with Bling as part of her investigation, but she did not provide any useful information 
about this interview during her testimony.   

Appellant maintains that the probative value of the photographs was high 
because the police had not recovered a gun connected to the shooting and the 
photographs cast doubt on Appellant's guilt by showing "Bling was the shooter." 
Appellant also maintains that the jury would not have been confused or misled "into 
believing the photographs purported to be anything except what they were— 
evidence of a gun capable of shooting the same caliber of bullets as those shot at 
Brandon and of holding the same number of bullets as shell casings found at the 
scene." However, ten shell casings were found at the scene, and Appellant has 
asserted the gun in the photographs could hold only nine bullets.  Further, there is 
no evidence placing Bling at the scene before or during the shooting.  The only 
testimony placing Bling at the Cockpit was from Sergeant Etheredge, who stated 
that Bling "showed up at the club where [Josie] was" without any indication of when 
this occurred. 

Moreover, Josie described Bling as tall with dreadlocks that extended below 
his shoulders and a tattoo of the letter "L" in the middle of his forehead.  On the other 
hand, Fred, who interacted with the shooter, never mentioned seeing any tattoos on 
him.  Rather, he described the shooter as approximately five feet, eight inches tall 
with shoulder-length dreadlocks, dark skin, and small eyes.  Fred also described the 
shooter as short. Likewise, Sergeant Etheredge recounted Rickena's description of 
the shooter as small in stature with small eyes and dreadlocks.  In contrast, Sergeant 
Etheredge described Bling as a "taller" black male with long dreadlocks and an "L" 
tattoo in the center of his forehead. Therefore, the evidence indicates that Bling did 
not match the description of the shooter.   
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Based on the foregoing, we conclude that Appellant has not presented the 
requisite "train of facts or circumstances" tending "clearly to point out [the] other 
person as the guilty party." Gregory, 198 S.C. at 105, 16 S.E.2d at 535. Therefore, 
there are no exceptional circumstances warranting a reversal of the circuit court's 
exclusion of the photographs from evidence.  See Collins, 409 S.C. at 534, 763 
S.E.2d at 28 ("A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and 
prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional 
circumstances.").  We conclude that the circuit court acted within its discretion in 
excluding the photographs from evidence. See Dickerson, 395 S.C. at 116, 716 
S.E.2d at 903 ("The admission of evidence is within the circuit court's discretion and 
will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion."); Pittman, 373 
S.C. at 570, 647 S.E.2d at 166–67 ("An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial 
court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, 
is without evidentiary support.").   

CONCLUSION 

Accordingly, we affirm Appellant's convictions. 

SHORT and THOMAS, JJ., concur. 
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